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CUSTODIAL LEGISLATION (OFFICERS DISCIPLINE) AMENDMENT BILL 2013 
Second Reading 

Resumed from 9 September. 

HON MICHAEL MISCHIN (North Metropolitan — Attorney General) [5.24 pm] — in reply: I expected 
more comment on the merits of the Custodial Legislation (Officers Discipline) Amendment Bill 2013. I am sure, 
given several amendments are proposed and some foreshadowed by a minority of the Standing Committee on 
Legislation, more will be said about the matter in the Committee of the Whole. I confess to feeling some 
confusion during the debate and on hearing opposition members’ submissions on their position on this 
legislation. Despite some comment, I think by the Leader of the Opposition and the Deputy Leader of the 
Opposition, that the Australian Labor Party will support the bill, Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich tried to unravel that 
a little by suggesting it would not be supported. I suppose it boils down to the opposition supporting the bill so 
long as the government accepts its proposed amendments, although the proposed amendments will be moved 
only in the Committee of the Whole. In any event, I can say that the government will not support the proposed 
amendments. 

Hon Kate Doust: That’s no surprise to us. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: If I may say so, once again, the ALP approaches legislation, not from a public 
interest perspective, not from how things can be improved, not from how one can ensure that power is not 
abused or the risk of corruption minimised, but from one of “workers’ rights”. 

Hon Kate Doust: What’s wrong with that? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: That is not to diminish the importance of accepting the need to take heed of the 
interests of public officers engaged in public duties, but one would have thought a paramount consideration is to 
ensure that there is an effective system whereby corruption, mismanagement by officers, abuse of power and 
incompetence are properly regulated and an officer such as a commissioner, whether it be the Commissioner of 
Police or the Commissioner of Corrective Services, has confidence that the officers under his or her control are 
suitable to be entrusted with the power over others, particularly inmates and people in custody. 

There is also some talk about the alignment of the discipline of prison officers and youth custodial officers to the 
Public Sector Management Act. However, the opposition has also noted that the disciplinary provisions of the 
Public Sector Management Act, which will be applied to prison officers and youth custodial officers under this 
bill, will also introduce the opportunity or the penalty of transferring an officer to another role. It is said that 
opportunities for transfer are limited given the specialised skills of officers. None of those concerns are reflected 
in the proposed amendments members opposite have put forward. I will deal in globo with the various other 
matters that have been raised in the course of debate rather than with reference to the individual speakers. 

The Custodial Legislation (Officers Discipline) Amendment Bill 2013 provides an opportunity to introduce 
improvement actions rather than punitive actions to employee discipline, enabling the chief executive officer to 
maintain a secure and safe environment for prisoners, detainees and staff. The underlying principles of 
improvement action are negotiation, conciliation and developing officer skills. The key reforms introduced by 
the bill are aligning prison officer and youth custodial officer disciplinary procedures with disciplinary procedure 
introduced by the Public Sector Reform Act 2010 and enabling the chief executive officer to promptly remove 
prison officers and youth custodial officers through loss-of-confidence provisions similar to those introduced to 
WA Police in 2002. I remind members that at that stage the Minister for Police was Hon Michelle Roberts, who 
said many things about the need for such provisions and justified them on the basis of the unique role played by 
police officers. It is a role that, despite the suggestion that somehow there is a great distinction to be made 
between the role of prison officers and police officers, is not unlike that level of responsibility for custodial 
officers that we dealing with. It is said that police officers are never off duty; they cannot stand by and watch 
a crime being committed and be true to their oath of office. Likewise, we cannot have a corrective services 
officer, a prison officer, who may be diligent in their duties nine to five but then goes down to the pub and drinks 
with outlaw motorcycle gang members and fraternises with criminals as a matter of choice. We have to have 
a level of confidence that corrective services officers—prison officers—are above that sort of behaviour and that 
the public has confidence in their integrity and incorruptibility.  

The legislation for prison officers’ discipline is currently over 30 years old and the legislation for youth custodial 
officer discipline is over 20 years old. They need to be reformed to provide for contemporary practices. The vast 
majority of prison officers and youth custodial officers uphold the highest standards of ethical behaviour. They 
are committed to maintaining the safety and security of the community and to rehabilitating offenders to be 
productive members of the community. Prison officers and youth custodial officers undoubtedly possess 
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specialised skills, as has been referred to by the opposition in the course of debate, but most of them are 
transferrable. For example, officers are skilled communicators and negotiators. They are skilled in conflict 
resolution. They are culturally sensitive, able to work with people from a range of backgrounds and with a wide 
variety of mental health issues. They work effectively in teams. They are skilled problem solvers and they make 
critical decisions under pressure. To suggest, as the opposition has done, that the skills of these officers are so 
specialised as to prevent an officer’s transfer in accordance with the Public Sector Management Act discipline 
process devalues the skills and competencies of those officers. The introduction of the loss-of-confidence 
provisions in this bill is based on the need to provide managerial intervention for the improvement of prison 
officers and youth custodial officers when required. It is not based on the incidence of corruption but on a need 
for contemporary management practices. Loss of confidence deals not only with corrupt conduct but also an 
officer’s suitability in view of their integrity, honesty, competence, performance or conduct. The opposition’s 
claim that there is not widespread corruption on the basis of the number of charges laid and that the bill is 
therefore not required seems to me to be looking at the problem from the wrong end. We do not wait for high 
incidences of corruption before we take action; we look at contemporary practices and try to attend to the 
problem before it arises and stifle the problem before it can take root. The rationale for this bill does not rely on 
the extent of corrupt behaviour or the number of charges laid, which is a somewhat inadequate measure of 
corruption. The idea that there is no corruption where there are no charges is just an absurdity.  

The provisions of the bill aim to improve public confidence in the custodial system. The frequency with which 
the loss-of-confidence provisions are applied is immaterial to the rationale for the bill. The ability for the 
commissioner to take appropriate removal action when he no longer has confidence in a custodial officer’s 
suitability for their role is the core rationale and is key to maintaining public confidence in the public custodial 
system. I will illustrate that with a couple of scenarios. Let us say that intelligence holdings suggest that a prison 
officer is associating with known criminals in an outlaw motorcycle gang. The holdings indicate that the officer 
is present when drug deals are suspected to have taken place, the officer has been seen on a number of occasions 
in the company of known criminals in a particular outlaw motorcycle gang and the officer has been observed 
going out of his or her way to speak in private with inmates from the same outlaw motorcycle gang. With  
loss-of-confidence powers and the abrogation of the privilege against self-incrimination, the commissioner could 
compel the officer to answer questions about the intelligence holdings without using criminal proceedings and 
undertake the loss-of-confidence process as the officer’s behaviour does give rise to a loss of confidence in that 
officer. Currently, the idea that the CEO has to gather enough evidence to show there is actual corruption or an 
offence has been committed does not inspire confidence that issues that affect the integrity of the system and 
may not compromise that officer in due course are not already in place.  

In another scenario, police have cause to attend the residence of a member of an outlaw motorcycle gang and 
upon attending a person at the residence calls out, “Don’t worry, I’m a prison officer.” The person, who appears 
drunk, produces their corrective services identity card to support the statement. With loss-of-confidence and 
coercive powers, the commissioner could compel the officer to answer questions about the incident without 
using that evidence in criminal proceedings and undertake loss-of-confidence processes. I would have thought, 
to any observer, that that incident would give rise to a loss of confidence in the officer. Without those  
loss-of-confidence powers the department has little option except to attempt a discipline process on the ground 
of an undeclared conflict of interest. The evidence that I have outlined there simply does not support any 
criminal offence.  

Hon Darren West: Guilty until proven innocent! 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: That is just a stupid comment, frankly. If the honourable member thinks that he 
would have confidence in someone who is a prison officer and found in that kind of environment who says, 
“I’m not going to answer your questions as to why I’m there or what I’m doing”, and if he thinks that is 
something the public ought to have confidence in, then he needs to come back to planet earth.  

Hon Darren West: Everyone has the right to remain silent.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Terrific!  

Hon Darren West: And they are not guilty until proven innocent!  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: It seems that Hon Darren West would be quite happy to encounter a prison officer 
in the headquarters of an outlaw motorcycle gang, drunk and where there is drug dealing going on, and say, 
“Innocent until proven guilty”, and let him go back to work that night! Is that what Hon Darren West is telling 
his constituents?  

Several members interjected. 
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The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order, members! As entertaining as this is, Hon Michael Mischin has the call.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: In that scenario, if Hon Darren West wants to tell his constituents, “Hey, innocent 
until proven guilty! I don’t mind if prison officers visit gang members. I have confidence in them”, I would love 
to hear him say so. He needs to come back to Western Australia.  

Hon Darren West: That is very disingenuous, minister. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: It is what the honourable member is saying. It does not adequately reflect the 
seriousness of the conduct. If it were a police officer, the commissioner would be entitled to say, “I have 
questioned my confidence in you. I want to know what you were doing there”, and he should be entitled to 
expect answers. Hon Darren West thinks that is all too much for a prison officer. 

Hon Sue Ellery: You have no idea!  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Is Hon Darren West saying that that should be able to be done to a prison officer? 
Yes or no?  

Hon Darren West: He is innocent until proven guilty. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: There is the mantra!  

Hon Darren West: If he has committed a criminal act, he can be found guilty under the criminal act.  

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order, members! This is not question time. We are dealing with the reply to the 
second reading debate, and I ask that the Attorney General focus on addressing matters that were raised during 
the second reading of the bill rather than inviting comment and interjection.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Thank you, Madam Deputy President, I will pass on that, other than to say, oh, 
dear, is that the best we can do?  

Hon Sue Ellery: Did you hear what she just said to you?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: It was something raised in the second reading debate, actually. I have addressed it 
and I shall now move on.  

The loss-of-confidence process will be used only in exceptional circumstances when managerial intervention 
does not result in improvement in the officer’s suitability based on an appraisal of an officer’s integrity, honesty, 
competence, performance and/or conduct, and not on a finding of guilt or innocence. In Carlyon v the 
Commissioner of Police in 2004, the WA Industrial Relations Commission ruled that removal of an officer for 
loss of confidence was not to punish the police officer—that being a police officer case—but to preserve public 
confidence in the police force. That is precisely what these provisions are intended to require in the case of 
prison officers. The public cannot be expected to have confidence in the safe and secure custody of adult and 
young offenders if the commissioner is unable to remove officers who are charged with their care and in whom 
he has lost confidence. In those two scenarios, although they seem to be innocent until proven guilty cases, 
I would have thought, Hon Darren West, that in any reasonable person they would inspire a loss of confidence. 

The opposition claimed that the opportunity for corruption is less for youth custodial officers than for prison 
officers in view of their limited influence of organised crime over young people and because there are fewer 
youth custodial officers than there are prison officers. There are a lot of assumptions in that, but loss of 
confidence should also apply to both prison officers and youth custodial officers for a number of reasons. Firstly, 
youth custodial officers have similar powers to prison officers, including the use of force and the ability to 
deprive people of their liberty. Youth custodial officers and prison officers have similar job descriptions. The 
community would expect that the same standards of integrity, honesty, competence, performance and conduct 
would apply to those charged with the care of young and particularly vulnerable people as applies to those 
responsible for the care of adult offenders. The number of youth custodial officers is irrelevant in that regard, 
and youth custodial officers are required to provide a positive role model to young detainees. There have been 
instances in the past of custodial officers in charge of both adult and juvenile prisoners entering into 
inappropriate relationships, even of a sexual nature, with inmates, so loss-of-confidence provisions are necessary 
to apply to all manner of custodial officers who are charged with the power to exercise control over others and 
the use of force.  

The opposition claimed that the loss-of-confidence provisions would not be necessary if staff were appropriately 
screened for employment suitability. The department undertakes rigorous screening of persons seeking 
employment as prison officers and youth custodial officers. The checks include a review of a person’s criminal 
history and any outstanding court appearances, and a review of internal intelligence holdings, including any 
known association with offenders, and the assessment of an integrity declaration by the applicant that requires 
disclosure of issues with a potential nexus to integrity risk—for example, associations with offenders of 
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organised crime, past disciplinary action and so forth. It imposes psychometric testing and referee checks. The 
department is currently in discussion with Western Australia Police with a view to further strengthening  
pre-employment screening of persons seeking employment with the department. Although pre-employment 
screening presents opportunities for limiting the appointment of inappropriate people, the risk of otherwise 
appropriate employees being corrupted or changing their behaviour while employed remains. There is always the 
potential for an inappropriate person to wilfully mislead the department and to gain employment, and integrity 
checks not picking that up.  

Western Australia Police would be expected to have one of the most robust screening processes of any 
Western Australian government department, yet, despite those screening processes, when the opposition was in 
government, it saw fit to introduce the same loss-of-confidence provisions for police. I refer to the second 
reading speech of the Police Amendment Bill 2002, which was given by Michelle Roberts when she was 
Minister for Police. It reads —  

The Police Amendment Bill has a number of key components. It principally amends section 8 of the 
Police Act and introduces a new part IIB into the Act. It introduces a requirement that before a police 
officer can be removed from office under section 8 the commissioner must have lost confidence in the 
officer’s suitability to continue as a police officer, having regard to the officer’s integrity, honesty, 
competence, performance or conduct. These criteria are very broad. They ensure that the commissioner 
retains a wide managerial right to summarily remove unsuitable officers. This is consistent with the 
need identified by Justice Wood following the NSW police royal commission. In the absence of such 
authority, the community would understandably have grave concerns about the risk to the integrity of, 
and public confidence in, the Police Service. It is important that the commissioner not be impeded from 
efficiently and effectively removing those officers whose integrity, honesty, competence, performance 
or conduct he considers to be wanting.  

That is precisely what the opposition says now ought not to happen to prison officers and youth custodial 
officers. Prison officers and youth custodial officers have certain powers over people, such as the lawful use of 
force and the deprivation of liberty. In many respects, in a closed custodial environment the behaviour of these 
officers is arguably less accessible to public scrutiny than is the behaviour of police officers. There is a strong 
public interest in ensuring the integrity of the custodial workforce, and the department must ensure that the 
custodial system will provide a secure environment for prisoners and detainees and safety for the community.  

The opposition argued that under the existing disciplinary provisions of the Prisons Act 1981, the 
Young Offenders Act 1994 and the Public Sector Management Act 1994, if prison officer and youth custodial 
officer discipline is thus aligned, the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 and criminal offences are 
sufficient controls. The department cooperates with the Corruption and Crime Commission in the investigation 
of corrupt behaviour. However, the commission refers the vast majority of cases back to the department in 
accordance with section 33(1)(c) of the Corruption and Crime Commission Act for action under the provisions 
available to the department. The Corruption and Crime Commission Act and the disciplinary provisions of the 
Prisons Act and the Young Offenders Act deal only with misconduct and corruption. Loss of confidence deals 
with not only corruption and misconduct, but also an officer’s performance and competence under a managerial 
framework. The review of the loss-of-confidence provisions in the Police Act 1892, undertaken in 2006, 
endorsed the managerial approach taken by the Western Australia Police. The approach has helped to maintain 
discipline and commitment to ethical standards in policing, and that is being sought in the case of custodial 
officers, whether for adult prisons or juvenile detention centres. 

The opposition also argued that the abrogation of self-incrimination during loss-of-confidence proceedings 
means that prison officers and youth custodial officers will have fewer rights than prisoners, detainees and 
members of Parliament. As I mentioned earlier, prison officers and youth custodial officers have certain powers 
over prisoners and detainees, such as the lawful use of force and the deprivation of liberty. Those powers are 
similar to those exercised by the police and in many respects, being in a closed custodial environment, are 
arguably less available to public scrutiny. Rules of investigation and loss-of-confidence proceedings, including 
the abrogation of the privilege against self-incrimination, therefore need to be stringent for prison officers and 
youth custodial officers, as well as police officers. Members of Parliament do not have such powers as the use of 
force and deprivation of liberty, and to suggest that they are somehow equivalent is to fundamentally 
misunderstand and misconstrue the role of prison officers and youth custodial officers. The opposition argued 
that the abrogation of the privilege against self-incrimination during loss-of-confidence proceedings leaves 
prison officers and youth custodial officers with fewer rights than prisoners and detainees. The abrogation does 
not apply to criminal matters; therefore, in criminal proceedings, prison officers and youth custodial officers will 
maintain the same rights as prisoners and detainees. It must be remembered that prisoners and detainees do not 
have the power to exercise force or deprive prison officers of liberty; rather, it is the other way around. 
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The opposition also queried whether prison officers and youth custodial officers can have representation during 
loss-of-confidence proceedings. I can confirm that officers may have a legal representative present when 
interviewed by the department for loss of confidence. The Industrial Relations Act 1979 also permits legal 
representation at the WA Industrial Relations Commission pursuant to section 33(1). 

The opposition claimed that it is not clear what the word “notice” in proposed section 102(7) means, specifically 
whether it refers to the decision notice in proposed section 102(5) or the written notice in proposed 
section 102(1) giving grounds on which the chief executive officer does not have confidence in a prison officer’s 
suitability to continue as a prison officer. Proposed section 102 describes the process by which the 
chief executive officer will notify an officer of his loss of confidence in that officer. The CEO will give written 
notice outlining the grounds for the loss of confidence and, in accordance with the bill, the officer will have 
21 days to respond. The chief executive officer must consider any response received and decide whether to 
remove the officer. The chief executive officer will notify the officer of his decision in writing, and removal 
action can take place after the officer is notified of the decision. I can confirm that the notice referred to in 
proposed section 102(7) refers to the decision notice in proposed section 102(5). Proposed section 102(7) does 
not refer to the proposed section 102(1) written notice in which the chief executive officer must give grounds on 
which he or she does not have confidence in a prison officer’s suitability to continue as a prison officer.  

The opposition claimed that the 28-day maintenance period is insufficient and will starve out appeals. That is 
a novel idea, because the bill actually aligns the disciplinary processes for prison officers and youth custodial 
officers to the Public Sector Management Act. The alignment with public sector discipline and the  
loss-of-confidence provisions will enable earlier management intervention through the introduction of 
improvement action as an alternative to disciplinary action. Prison officers’ appeals will be heard by the 
independent Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission, affording prison officers similar rights and 
processes that other public servants have. For loss-of-confidence provisions, the Western Australian Industrial 
Relations Commission will hear appeals. That will afford prison officers and youth custodial officers the same 
rights as other public servants. The 28-day maintenance payment is consistent with the loss-of-confidence 
provisions in the Police Act, which seemed to be all right for the then Labor government in 2002. Prior to the 
introduction of loss-of-confidence provisions for WA Police, police officers were paid their full salaries for the 
entire length of their appeals. The loss-of-confidence provisions introduced by Hon Michelle Roberts capped 
maintenance payments at 28 days to discourage frivolous appeals. That seemed to be okay for the then 
Labor government, but the Labor Party seems to take exception to it now. I refer to the second reading speech of 
the Police Amendment Bill 2002, which reflects the philosophy that is being adopted in this legislation. 
It states — 

The Bill also introduces a number of measures to protect the interests of police officers. Before taking 
action to remove a police officer in whom he has lost confidence, the commissioner is required to 
provide the officer with a notice setting out the grounds of his loss of confidence. The officer will 
generally be entitled to 21 days to respond to the commissioner’s concerns. This will ensure that the 
officer has a fair opportunity to respond but that the process is expeditious. If the commissioner 
ultimately decides to remove the officer, he must disclose to the officer the reasons for his decision and 
materials he examined and took into account in making the decision. Under the previous administrative 
arrangements officers were not removed from office until after they had exercised any right of appeal. 
They also continued to receive pay during that period and could resign prior to the appeal being 
determined. This acted as a strong incentive for officers to prolong the removal process and to lodge 
appeals. It resulted in the situation where a number of officers in the process of being removed were 
still being paid after periods in excess of two years. 

That was the then Labor government in 2002, setting up a regime that is reflected in the current legislation that 
suddenly has become draconian, unreasonable and is trying to “starve out” prison officers. I do not know what it 
is, but perhaps they have a more powerful union. 

The Police Amendment Bill 2002 second reading speech continues — 

Under the changes introduced by the Bill the process leading up to a police officer’s removal has been 
streamlined and an officer will be removed from office before any appeal occurs. The officer will then 
receive a maintenance payment, based on his or her previous salary, for 28 days after being removed. 
During this period the officer may decide to accept the commissioner’s decision, resign—instead of 
being removed—or appeal to the Industrial Relations Commission. 

The decision to allow a police officer to resign instead of being removed from office is intended to 
encourage officers not to lodge frivolous appeals. It also reflects a recognition that the removal of 
a police officer for loss of confidence involves a managerial decision rather than a finding of guilt. As 
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was recognised by Justice Wood following the Wood royal commission, the public interest is best 
served by the prompt departure of unsuitable police officers from the Police Service, irrespective of 
whether it occurs by their formal removal or resignation. While police officers will no longer receive 
pay during the appeal process, the minister is vested with a discretion, in exceptional circumstances, to 
direct that a police officer be paid a further maintenance payment for no more than six months pending 
determination of an appeal. 

As I have already outlined, I am quoting Hon Michelle Roberts. The second reading speech of the 
Police Amendment Bill 2002 continues — 

… the Government recognises the fundamental importance that individual officers who have been 
removed from office be afforded an independent right of appeal to ensure that such decisions are made 
fairly. In a major step forward, this Bill — 

The one she was dealing with — 
will for the first time provide officers with such a right. While both appeals under this Bill and hearings 
of traditional unfair dismissal claims involve questions of harshness, oppressiveness or unfairness, in 
police appeals the onus of proof is reversed and the officer must demonstrate the Commissioner of 
Police’s decision was harsh, oppressive or unfair. In making its decision, the Industrial Relations 
Commission must also pay particular regard to the public interest in maintaining public confidence in 
the Police Force and the special nature of the relationship between the commissioner and police 
officers. Police officers are not like other employees. The fact that police officers are empowered to 
serve the community justifies special measures for the maintenance of high standards within the 
Police Service. 

Consistent with the practice under the previous administrative arrangements, appeals are to be held 
before three members of the Industrial Relations Commission rather than one, as in unfair dismissal 
cases. Similar remedies are available, although the maximum compensation available to a police officer 
found to have been unfairly removed, but who cannot practicably be reinstated, is 12 months compared 
with six months for ordinary employees. An appeal will generally involve a review of the materials 
examined and taken into account by the Commissioner of Police, any written submissions made to the 
commissioner, the commissioner’s grounds for his initial loss of confidence and reasons for his eventual 
decision to take removal action. The appeal will not involve a re-hearing or a hearing de novo. In 
appropriate circumstances, provision is made for “new evidence” to be tendered on an appeal. If this 
occurs the other party must be given a reasonable opportunity to consider the new evidence and to 
tender new evidence in reply. In either case, the Commissioner of Police may reformulate his original 
reasons for his loss of confidence and his new reasons are to be treated as if they were his original 
reasons. The Industrial Relations Commission is therefore not put in the unsatisfactory position of being 
required to speculate whether the new evidence may have altered the commissioner’s decision or of 
substituting its own view of the merits for that of the commissioner. 

That is precisely the regime that this government is being criticised for introducing for prison officers and youth 
custodial officers. 

At present, prison officers and youth custodial officers are paid four weeks’ salary in lieu of notice of 
termination. The bill will therefore not disadvantage those officers. On the contrary, the bill introduces a new 
benefit; in exceptional circumstances, the minister may grant an extension to an officer’s maintenance payment 
for up to six months. Maintenance may assist the officer during his or her attempt to seek alternative 
employment. Maintenance payments must have a limited duration, because unlimited extension of the 
maintenance payment may encourage appeals even when the appeal has no merits. 

The opposition has said that the WAIRC has only five industrial commissioners and that it will be difficult for 
the WAIRC to arrange for three industrial commissioners to hear an appeal within a short time, which means that 
there will be a delay in proceedings and an appeal may not be heard within the 28-day maintenance period. In 
a statutory review of the loss-of-confidence provisions in the Police Act, an amendment was recommended to 
part IIB of the Police Act to allow one member of the appeal bench in the WAIRC to hear interlocutory matters 
and to progress the appeal under a formal case management process. Hon Nick Goiran queried why that 
recommendation has not been incorporated into the current bill. The opposition has argued that it will be difficult 
for three industrial commissioners to hear an appeal within a short time frame. At present, appeals to the 
Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission by prison officers are heard by a single industrial 
commissioner. The proposal to have three industrial commissioners hearing an appeal is intended to provide 
greater safeguards to prison officers who are subject to loss-of-confidence removals. It is not intended that an 
appeal be heard within the 28-day maintenance period; the maintenance period merely gives the prison officer 
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time to consider and lodge an appeal. At present, officers are not paid their salaries during an appeal. The 
WAIRC advises it takes four to five weeks to list an appeal before a single commissioner and six weeks to list an 
appeal before three commissioners. The difference in time span is therefore minimal. 

As mentioned by Hon Nick Goiran, the statutory review of the loss-of-confidence provisions of the Police Act 
recommended an amendment to part IIB of the Police Act to allow one member of the appeal bench of the 
WAIRC to hear interlocutory matters and to progress the appeal under a formal case management process. 
Western Australia Police did not implement the recommendation of the statutory review report. When the issue 
of the statutory review was raised by Hon Nick Goiran in November 2013, the Minister for Corrective Services’ 
response was that the recommendations of the statutory review report may be considered when the  
loss-of-confidence provisions in the Prisons Act and the Young Offenders Act are reviewed two years after their 
enactment, as provided by the bill. 

The opposition has argued that an officer has no realistic chance of returning to the workplace if an officer’s 
appeal to the WAIRC is upheld, as the chief executive officer’s confidence could not be regained. Loss of 
confidence is a significant power to maintain public confidence in the corrections system. Removal under these 
provisions would never be taken lightly, and only where other managerial intervention is either unsuitable or has 
failed to address the officer’s integrity, honesty, competence, performance or conduct. In many ways, removal 
for loss of confidence would arise when the officer’s integrity, honesty, competence, performance or conduct 
creates an irresistible conclusion that the chief executive officer no longer has confidence and must remove the 
officer. For these reasons, it is very unlikely that an officer would be able to regain the confidence of 
a chief executive officer. In addition to pre-removal protections that will provide an officer with the opportunity 
to present his case to the chief executive officer, the appeal process in the bill provides several safeguards to 
protect officers subject to loss of confidence. If the officer presents new evidence on appeal that regains the 
chief executive officer’s confidence in the officer, the chief executive officer may revoke the officer’s removal. 
This protection provides for reinstatement of an officer where the CEO recognises that his loss of confidence 
was unfounded or relied on incorrect information. In addition, the Western Australian Industrial Relations 
Commission may order that the officer’s removal be taken to have been of no effect—that is, to order the 
reinstatement of the officer or, where reinstatement is impracticable, it may order compensation. For those 
reasons, it is true that in many circumstances an officer would be unable to regain the confidence of the 
chief executive officer even where the commissioner has ordered reinstatement, but the power of the commission 
to order reinstatement provides additional protections for the officer in circumstances where the required 
procedure is not being followed. 

Section 96 of the Prisons Act defines a prison officer as a person engaged to be a prison officer under 
section 13 and a person engaged as a prison officer prior to the coming into operation of section 13. 

Sitting suspended from 6.00 to 7.30 pm 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: As I was saying, section 96 of the Prisons Act 1981 defines a prison officer as — 

(a) a person engaged to be a prison officer under section 13; and 

(b) a person engaged as a prison officer prior to the coming into operation of section 13 and deemed to 
be a prison officer for the purposes of this Act by Schedule 2. 

The purpose of paragraph (b) is to make reference to the fact that schedule 2 of the Prisons Act made transitional 
provisions to include prison officers employed prior to the enactment of the act in the definition. The bill 
removes paragraph (b) from the Prisons Act. Hon Nick Goiran queried whether the removal would exclude 
prison officers employed prior to the enactment of the Prisons Act from the operation of part X relating to the 
discipline of prison officers. The department received advice from Parliamentary Counsel’s Office in November 
2013 when the issue was first raised by Hon Nick Goiran. Parliamentary Counsel’s Office advised that paragraph 
(b) was omitted because Parliamentary Counsel’s Office considered it to be unnecessary. Prison officers 
employed prior to the enactment of the Prisons Act have been engaged by the minister by virtue of schedule 2 of 
the act. The relevant paragraphs in schedule 2 are — 

4. Each person appointed or engaged under the repealed Act and holding office immediately before 
the coming into operation of this Act shall continue to hold office and shall be deemed to have been 
appointed or engaged, subject to this Act and to the terms of his appointment or engagement, to 
a corresponding office under this Act. 

5. A prison officer who is deemed to have been engaged as such by clause 4 may be required by the 
chief executive officer at any time after the coming into operation of this Act to subscribe, in the 
presence of and attested by a justice or an officer not below the rank of superintendent, an oath of 
engagement in the terms set out in section 13(2). 
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The views of Parliamentary Counsel’s Office are accepted by the department and the minister. 

The opposition queried whether regulations would be made for the disciplinary matters. Yes, regulations 
containing operational details for loss of confidence will be drafted in consultation with the unions and other 
interest groups. The unions and other stakeholders are also currently being consulted in the development of 
departmental policy and procedures for the application of the bill when it becomes law. 

I think that canvasses most of the issues of substance that have been raised in the course of debate. I do know, of 
course, that the Standing Committee on Legislation has delivered its twenty-fifth report. The bill was referred to 
the Standing Committee on Legislation on 9 September this year and the committee tabled its report on 
11 November and made several recommendations. It supports the bill but has recommended a number of 
amendments. A minority of the Standing Committee on Legislation, consisting of Hon Sally Talbot and 
Hon Lynn MacLaren, supports the alignment of disciplinary procedures for prison officers and youth custodial 
officers with the Public Sector Management Act 1994, but does not support the loss-of-confidence provisions or 
the abrogation of the privilege against self-incrimination; and the minority made six recommendations. 

The first minority recommendation is — 

All clauses relating to the application of loss of confidence provisions be deleted from the Bill. 

That would tend to gut the entire purpose of the legislation, which is to align it with the same sorts of 
considerations and governance provisions for management of prison officers and youth custodial officers as 
those enjoyed by the Commissioner of Police, and which the then opposition supported back in 2002. The 
government therefore cannot support that minority recommendation. In any case, the majority of the committee 
found sufficient similarities between police officers and custodial officers to justify applying loss-of-confidence 
provisions in the Police Act 1892 to the bill; those being that police officers and custodial officers work with 
criminals and have the power to use force and to deny people their liberty. These similarities mean that the 
officers must have the highest standards of integrity and confidence of their respective chief executive officers. 
The minority considers that police officers have broader powers to keep the peace at common law, while the 
duties of prison officers are limited by legislation to guarding the prison. That is a very narrow view of the role 
of prison officers. The fact is that they along with police officers uniquely—I say “uniquely” in the context of 
the sorts of responsibilities exercised by other public officers—have the power to use force in the execution of 
their duties and are indeed expected to use force to maintain discipline and the rule of law within their particular 
environment. They have the power to deny liberty; they are an enclosed society inasmuch as they act within the 
confines of a prison or other custodial operation; and they are, I suppose, relatively not free, less easily reviewed 
and subject to public scrutiny. Therefore, the powers they exercise and their contact with the criminal element 
would suggest that they ought to be subject to the same regime and the same expectations as police officers. 
Certainly, the opposition, when it was in government in 2002, felt that that was not too extreme in respect of 
police officers. 

The second minority recommendation is — 

The Minister representing the Minister for Corrective Services provide to the Parliament 
a clarifying statement confirming that removal power for loss of confidence will not be used in 
cases where custodial officers are medically unfit. 

There is no need for me to do that. The issue has been addressed by the Minister for Corrective Services in his 
letter to the legislation committee dated 29 October this year saying that there are regulations governing the 
discharge of custodial officers on medical grounds; those being regulations 5 and 6 of the Prison Regulations 
1982 and regulations 51 and 52 of the Young Offenders Regulations 1995. The bill is not intended to override 
those regulations. One would have thought in any event that different considerations are involved in loss of 
confidence within the meaning of the bill and the discharge of officers on medical grounds. 

Turning to the recommendations of the majority of the committee, the first recommendation is that the bill — 

… be amended to reflect the reference in the Second Reading Speech that: 

Importantly, the compelled information will not be used in any other proceedings and the 
officer must be advised of the implications of the abrogation, and the relevancy of the 
required information. 

The government does not support an amendment to that effect. The bill already stipulates that the compelled 
answer will not be used in any other proceedings. In that regard, I refer to clause 7, proposed section 101(6), and 
clause 16, proposed section 11CC(6). Similarly, the implications of the abrogation are provided in the bill via 
clause 7, proposed section 101 and clause 16, which will enact proposed section 11CC. Relevance is a common 
law requirement for all administrative actions and does not need to be legislated for. Explaining the implications 
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of the abrogation of the privilege against self-incrimination and the relevance of the required information are 
operational matters and can be addressed in an operational manual that will be developed by the Department of 
Corrective Services to implement the disciplinary procedures proposed by the bill. That was touched on in the 
course of the second reading speech.  

Point of Order 
Hon SALLY TALBOT: Mr Acting President, may I ask that the minister just turn slightly. It is very, very hard 
to hear him from this side of the chamber. I have just checked with my colleagues on this side of the house, and 
it is not my hearing. There is a residual noise going on in the chamber, and the minister is speaking rather softly. 

The ACTING PRESIDENT (Hon Simon O’Brien): I am sure both the sound technicians and the minister have 
heard the member’s request and no doubt it will be accommodated. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Thank you, Mr Acting President. It is my fault. Sometimes my voice drops, and as 
a matter of past practice I tend to speak to the bench or the presiding officer rather than to the chamber. My 
apologies for that. 
The ACTING PRESIDENT: It is a long time since I was benched, but that is another story! 

Debate Resumed 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Committee recommendation 2 refers to clause 7, proposed section 101(4), and 
clause 16, proposed section 11CC(4), and reads — 

That the Minister representing the Minister for Corrective Services advise the Legislative Council 
whether information gathered pursuant to clause 7, proposed new subsection 101(4) and 
clause 16 proposed new section 11CC(4) of the Custodial Legislation (Officers Discipline) 
Amendment Bill 2013 will be available for use by other agencies and, if so, the method by which it 
can be used. 

Essentially, that is the information obtained from the abrogation of the privilege against self-incrimination. The 
government considers there is no need for the minister representing the Minister for Corrective Services to 
advise the Legislative Council, inasmuch as clause 7, proposed section 101(6), and clause 16, proposed 
section 11CC(6), already provide that the compelled answer will not be admissible in any criminal proceedings 
except in proceedings relating to the failure to provide the compelled answer. A recent High Court decision 
indicates that the use of such compelled answers in criminal proceedings would result in an unfair trial and 
consequently the quashing of a conviction from the trial. In that regard, the case of Lee v The Queen [2014] 
HCA 20, delivered on 21 May 2014, is pertinent. 
Committee recommendation 3 is rather a lengthy one, and I will not read it out, but, yes, an investigation will be 
held when removal action is contemplated. Committee recommendation 4 — 

Hon Kate Doust: I must have missed something. Is the minister just cherrypicking the recommendations he is 
going to speak to first or taking them one by one? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am going in order, I think. 

Hon Kate Doust: Okay. I must have missed those. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I was dealing with majority recommendations 1 and 2. I am now dealing with 
recommendation 3, which appears at pages ii and 52 of the report. I will not read it out, to save Hansard trying to 
make sense of it. 

With regard to recommendation 4, yes, the chief executive officer must issue the custodial officer with a written 
notice for removal. 

With regard to recommendation 5, clause 7, which introduces proposed section 106(6), and clause 16, which 
introduces proposed section 11CH(6), do not restrict other courses of action. The Supreme Court has an inherent 
jurisdiction to conduct a judicial review on errors of law. That prerogative writ is not overridden by clause 7, 
proposed section 106(6), or clause 16, which introduces section 11CH(6). 

Recommendation 6 is with regard to the chief executive officer reformulating his reasons for removal based on 
new evidence tendered by the appellant. To allow the appellant to tender new evidence in response to the 
chief executive officer’s reformulated reasons would be tantamount to allowing the appellant to amend his or her 
evidence. That is the explanation for that. 

Hon Kate Doust: Minister, I think if you read that recommendation, the committee actually asked if you would 
advise why that clause does not appear to include an opportunity for the appellant to tender new evidence in 
response to the commissioner’s reformulation. Is there a reason why the appellant cannot do that? 
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes, because it could then be a case that the appellant would reformulate or revise 
or amend their own new evidence. The appellant presents their reasons, on the basis of the new evidence that is 
presented. The commissioner can revise the appellant’s reasons, but if there was then an answer to that by way of 
new evidence and reformulated evidence, the appellant would really be having another shot at it and changing 
their mind. 
Hon Kate Doust: We might spend some time on that in committee. 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am sure we will. 

Majority recommendation 7 relates to clause 7, proposed section 110J, and clause 16, proposed section 11CU, 
which provide for the standing down of custodial officers. Both provisions stipulate that the bill does not 
derogate from the CEO’s power to stand down a custodial officer. This means that the existing provisions for 
standing down a custodial officer will continue to operate. The existing provisions already stipulate that 
a custodial officer can appeal against the decision to stand down to the Public Service Appeal Board or the 
Industrial Relations Commission. Section 78 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994 and section 23 of the 
Industrial Relations Act 1976 are pertinent to that. 

Minority recommendation 3 is to remove from the bill all clauses relating to the abrogation of the privilege 
against self-incrimination. Again, that is fundamental to the disciplinary and management processes in the bill. 
Therefore, that recommendation is not supported by the government. It is necessarily in order to expedite 
investigation, in the same way as for police. 

Minority recommendation 4 again is not supported. The extension of maintenance payments is a provision that is 
not currently available to custodial officers. Therefore, it is an additional benefit to custodial officers and should 
be awarded at the discretion of the Minister for Corrective Services. Again, that mirrors the sorts of things that 
are available to police.  

Minority recommendation 5 is not supported. A custodial officer has a special relationship with the 
chief executive officer; the unions do not have such a relationship with the chief executive officer. Therefore the 
appeal is confined to the custodial officer and the chief executive officer.  

Minority recommendation 6 is not supported. The Industrial Relations Act 1976 provides for a maximum of 
six months’ salary in compensation. The bill provides 12 months’ salary in compensation, which is in excess of 
the amount provided by the Industrial Relations Act.  

In short form, that deals with the several issues that have been raised during the course of the second reading 
debate on the bill. I understand the opposition will have its own views as to what is acceptable to it and to the 
WA Prison Officers’ Union, but the government maintains that this legislation is necessary for proper and 
contemporary standards of governance of a segment of the public sector that exercises enormous powers, has 
enormous responsibilities, and in respect of which the public has legitimately high expectations of probity, 
integrity, proper conduct and competence. The government is committed to ensuring that that is the case with 
those occupations that involve necessarily, as part of their duties, the exercise of power over other citizens, albeit 
those within the custodial system, and criminals.  

I commend the bill to the house and move that it be read a second time.  

Division 

Question put and a division taken, the Acting President (Hon Simon O’Brien) casting his vote with the ayes, 
with the following result — 
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Ayes (19) 

Hon Martin Aldridge Hon Jim Chown Hon Alyssa Hayden Hon Michael Mischin 
Hon Ken Baston Hon Peter Collier Hon Col Holt Hon Helen Morton 
Hon Liz Behjat Hon Donna Faragher Hon Peter Katsambanis Hon Simon O’Brien 
Hon Jacqui Boydell Hon Nick Goiran Hon Mark Lewis Hon Brian Ellis (Teller) 
Hon Paul Brown Hon Dave Grills Hon Rick Mazza  

Noes (10) 

Hon Robin Chapple Hon Kate Doust Hon Lynn MacLaren Hon Samantha Rowe (Teller) 
Hon Alanna Clohesy Hon Sue Ellery Hon Amber-Jade Sanderson  
Hon Stephen Dawson Hon Adele Farina Hon Sally Talbot  

            
Pairs 

 Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Darren West 
 Hon Nigel Hallett Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich 
 Hon Phil Edman Hon Ken Travers 
 
Question thus passed. 
Bill read a second time. 

Committee 
The Deputy Chair of Committees (Hon Simon O’Brien) in the chair; Hon Michael Mischin (Attorney General) 
in charge of the bill. 
Clause 1: Short title — 
The DEPUTY CHAIR: Members, we are considering the Custodial Legislation (Officers Discipline) 
Amendment Bill 2013, bill 47–1B. I note the existence of supplementary notice paper 47, issue 3, dated today’s 
date, together with report 25 of the Standing Committee on Legislation. We turn first of all to clause 1, the short 
title.  

Hon LYNN MacLAREN: As the member who addressed this bill on behalf of the Greens, and it was some time 
ago since we last looked at it—quite thankfully I was able to look in more detail during the many weeks that the 
Standing Committee on Legislation, of which I am a member, reviewed the various clauses—I thought it might 
be timely for the Attorney General to remind us again what problem we are trying to address.  

We looked at the disciplinary issues that were being reported in the newspaper regarding custodial officers. As 
part of my research I saw that the Standing Committee on Estimates and Financial Operations had some very 
interesting information about discipline matters for prison officers and how often custodial officers were brought 
to the attention of their superiors due to discipline matters. It struck me in the long and detailed research we did 
in the Standing Committee on Legislation that we really could not get to the nub of the matter of why the 
government has chosen to introduce these loss-of-confidence provisions. It seemed to us that the existing 
industrial relations regime under the Industrial Relations Commission was sufficient to deal with any 
disciplinary problems that might come up for a public servant working as a custodial officer or, indeed, even 
a contracted custodial officer. I would really like the Attorney General to address the issue of the discipline 
matters currently being faced among custodial officers causing this extraordinary stretch to loss-of-confidence 
provisions. No-one else in Australia working as a prison officer will be managed in this way and as this is the 
first time this type of provision is being brought in, we need to look at why we think custodial officers might be 
disciplined under a loss-of-confidence provision instead of the normal way that any other public servant would 
be disciplined. I am now asking what discipline problems we are trying to address with loss-of-confidence 
provisions here. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR (Hon Simon O’Brien): I will give the call the Attorney General who may wish to 
address the questions as raised. When he does so, I am sure he will not revisit the second reading stage of this 
bill in which the policy of the bill has already been determined by the house. I will now give the call to the 
Attorney General to respond to the member. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Thank you, Mr Deputy Chair. No, I do not propose to revisit the second reading 
stage because I think I have waxed lyrical on the rationale behind the bill both in the second reading speech 
introducing the bill and also in my reply to the debate and the fact that there is no relationship strictly with the 
number or frequency of findings of misconduct on the part of prison officers, let alone corrupt behaviour. 
However, it elevates to contemporary practice procedures passed as long ago as 2002—over a decade ago—in 
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respect of police officers. Frankly, I am surprised at the honourable member’s confusion about why this might be 
necessary. 

Hon KATE DOUST: I pick on the matter that Hon Lynn MacLaren has alerted us to in the legislation 
committee report about the other jurisdictions that have a system in place whereby a loss of confidence can 
occur. I do not know whether it was actually canvassed during the second reading debate, but pages 7, 8 and 9 of 
the report tabled by the committee contain a very good table giving a breakdown of the current arrangement in 
each other state. It is quite clear that loss-of-confidence provisions do not exist in other states. When the 
Attorney General tells us—I may use the wrong words—about being contemporary and modern, maybe this 
government is trying to lead the pack, but every other jurisdiction has decided that this is not appropriate or 
needed for their prison officers, or they have other mechanisms. Therefore, I think the question that has been 
raised by Hon Lynn MacLaren is appropriate and requires an answer. We know that when this legislation was 
first mooted, it really erupted, from memory, out of a news article that appeared in The Sunday Times, which the 
Minister for Corrective Services is wont to use to get his stories out via the media. It had blazing statements 
about corruption in the system and we keep hearing about this one particular prison officer with bikie 
connections, but I do not know whether that justifies the change we are dealing with. Mr Deputy Chair, I know 
we have already dealt with the policy, but I think it would be useful for the Attorney General to tell us why in 
every other state it has been decided not to go down this path and how this provision is justified in Western 
Australia. What research has been conducted to demonstrate that this is a viable and appropriate mechanism to 
deal with alleged corruption amongst prison officers? As we see from this table in the committee report, the 
committee obviously thought it was valid to demonstrate that no other state had reason to go down this path and 
I think we therefore need to have a very clear understanding about why the government has decided to do 
something different. It is appropriate that the minister provide a response to that question, Mr Deputy Chair. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am happy to respond to that. Firstly, as I have indicated, the loss-of-confidence 
provisions do not deal with corruption or alleged corruption. They deal with confidence, integrity and issues of 
performance that is not of a satisfactory standard and may be short of corruption or alleged corruption, but where 
the CEO’s confidence in the ability of that officer discharging the functions in the public interest is put into 
doubt. I understand that although other jurisdictions have not introduced this provision, The Independent 
Commission Against Corruption of New South Wales recommended loss-of-confidence provisions to the 
New South Wales corrective services authorities, but they were not followed up. As to why other jurisdictions 
have not done that, I do not know; maybe they have oppositions like this one. However, Western Australia does 
not have to follow the pack. It may be comforting to see that there are other jurisdictions that have tried things 
and effected an improvement, but that does not mean that Western Australia ought not to take appropriate 
measures to govern its public servants and treat those public servants in the same manner as police officers, 
particularly ones who are entrusted with the fates of people under their control and who have the ability to 
exercise force in a relatively enclosed environment not easily subject to public scrutiny and where they can deny 
people their liberties. The opposition thought it was quite an appropriate way to go back in 2002 when it was in 
government and had responsibility for these things rather than to the interests of the prison officers. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR: It might assist the Committee of the Whole to remind members that this is a debate on 
the short title of bill. Although I do not wish to limit it unnecessarily, I am bound to put some parameters around 
it. Specifically, this is not a rerun of the second reading question. That was dealt with just now and in the debate 
that proceeded over the past weeks and months. I would be letting members down if I were not to steer the 
debate away from a rerun of the question of the policy of the bill. I think each member who has contributed so 
far has observed that this question being bounced around now is the central part of the bill. There is division 
amongst members as to whether that is a good thing, but that was a policy that was decided at the second reading 
stage, so we cannot have a rerun of that. What we can do in the short title is canvass the other provisions in the 
bill. There is some detail that touches on the implementation of that policy. Indeed, members have proposed 
amendments that would further their objections to the policy of the bill by changing the way it works. We will 
come to those in due course. But for the moment, the opposition to the policy of the bill that can be expressed 
through the clause 1 debate is to vote against clause 1, in which case the bill itself would be dispensed with in its 
entirety. We will not have a rerun of the second reading debate. I do not want to limit the legitimate short title 
debate but the question is still that clause 1 be agreed to. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I want to assure you, Mr Deputy Chair, that I personally will not feel let down by you 
if you decide at any stage over the next little while to allow the clause 1 debate to range perhaps fairly 
extensively over the issues—not, of course, to touch the question of policy, which, as you rightly note, has been 
determined already. I just point out to you, with great respect, and to honourable members that when we are 
dealing with very important substantive issues in these debates, we generally find that a slightly longer 
clause 1 debate than one might generally come to regard as usual often enables us to progress with more speed 



Extract from Hansard 
[COUNCIL — Tuesday, 18 November 2014] 

 p8178b-8200a 
Hon Michael Mischin; Hon Lynn MacLaren; Deputy Chair; Hon Kate Doust; Hon Dr Sally Talbot; Hon Sue 

Ellery; Hon Adele Farina 

 [13] 

later in the debate when we get to the specific amendments to the bill because the Attorney General will 
undoubtedly be able to refer to previous comments he has made. 

I make the point to you, Mr Deputy Chair, that, as has been the case with several other aspects of the 
government’s legislative program in recent times, this bill contains two or three very important changes to past 
practice in this state. Introducing loss-of-confidence provisions beyond the one profession in Western Australia 
where it already applies, which is the police service, is a very significant move. It represents a fundamental 
change to the workplace culture of that occupation of prison officer or youth custodial officer. It is incumbent on 
the opposition to use the second reading debate and, I guess more specifically when we get the chance to delve 
down in more detail, the committee stage of the debate, to ensure that every avenue of that change has been 
carefully explored. I do not necessarily expect the government to change its mind during the second reading 
debate. I have watched the government’s attitude to these things over the past couple of years. It seems to me 
that there are closed minds on the other side of the chamber, which is a shame when it comes to this kind of 
debate and discussion, as we ought to be able to persuade each other. I am not persuaded at this stage of the 
debate that two measures in particular contained in this bill represent a sensible option for Western Australia so 
I will continue to try to persuade the Attorney General to change his mind. I will use what I can of the 
clause 1 debate to do that. 

The first measure that is very significant is the introduction of loss-of-confidence provisions. The second one, 
which I know will be very dear to the Attorney General’s heart with the background that he has in administering 
the law, is the abrogation of the right to silence. In the context of the clause 1 debate, I will not go into the details 
of the way that provision is envisaged operating in the bill because we can do that when we get to the clauses. 
Neither will I talk about the policy intent that is expressed in the way that the government has interwoven that 
abrogation with the loss-of-confidence provisions. There are three or four specific issues that I want to take up 
under the umbrella of the clause 1 debate. They relate specifically to those two provisions, which to me remain 
extremely troubling. As the Deputy Chair of the Standing Committee on Legislation, I have probably spent more 
time analysing this bill, not just clause by clause but frequently word by word. I have my head pretty much 
around what these measures mean. I have also come to understand how profound some of these problems are. 
I think it is worth noting that seven unanimous recommendations are contained in this report. I remind 
honourable members that the legislation committee is controlled by the government. Two members of the 
Liberal Party and one member of the National Party are on that committee. Were the report to contain only 
minority recommendations—one does not have to be a political genius to work out they would almost certainly 
come from me as a member of the Labor Party and Hon Lynn MacLaren as a member of the Greens—I could 
understand the Attorney General perhaps expressing some impatience with those views. Members of his own 
party and members of his own government have expressed the view that there are seven points, some of which 
relate to statutory amendments and others which relate to clarifications and perhaps subsequent amendments on 
the basis that we found the bill to be unclear, that ought to be addressed very comprehensively. I hope we will do 
that during the committee stage of the bill. 

As I said, I have three or four specific questions I want to put to the Attorney General. The first one arises out of 
a comment that he made in the clause 1 debate. I think Hon Kate Doust raised the issue of corruption. She talked 
about the fact that the genesis of this bill appears to be a concern that was flagged in one of the newspapers in 
Western Australia that corrupt officers are currently working for the prison service and measures do not exist to 
remove those prison officers. The Attorney General’s response, if I understood it correctly, was that this bill does 
not deal with corruption. He is quite right to point out that when we talk about what the community expects from 
a prison officer—I think the committee received quite compelling evidence from prison officers and police 
officers—the five criteria that the community quite rightly expects are pretty much the same between the 
two services. They are integrity, honesty, competence, performance and conduct. Presumably, those are the 
five areas to which the Commissioner of Police or the Commissioner of Corrective Services might be said to 
have lost confidence in a prison officer’s capacity to deliver. That is why one of the unanimous 
recommendations of the committee is for the Attorney General to clarify whether the loss-of-confidence 
provisions could be extended to someone who is not physically or mentally fit to do the job. We will leave that 
discussion for later in the debate when we reach the specific clauses. I guess we could look at “performance” 
under that category. At least two of those other categories, such as “integrity” and “honesty”, surely refer 
directly to corruption or the absence of corruption. Therefore, I think it is a bit cute for the Attorney General to 
say that the measures in the bill are not directed at addressing corruption in the prison workforce. I would like to 
hear the Attorney General’s comments on that before I go on to my other points. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I already dealt with that. If the honourable member had listened to what I said, she 
would not have framed her question on a non-existent proposition. I will not say any more about it. I have 
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explained the policy of the bill and what has informed it; if she does not understand it, I cannot help her any 
more. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I drew attention earlier, before we went into committee, to the fact that, on occasions, 
on this side of the chamber we are finding it hard to hear the Attorney General. He has just referred to me 
challenging his non-existent proposition. It may be non-existent; if he is right and I have identified a proposition 
that does not exist, it might be because I did not hear what he said. I ask the Attorney General to explain again 
his comments that in his view the measures in the bill do not have the object of dealing with corruption in the 
prison service. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR (Hon Simon O’Brien): The question is that clause 1 be agreed. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: This is really quite extraordinary, but I will leave other members in the chamber to 
perhaps fathom what that response from the Attorney General means. I would have thought it was fairly 
straightforward. Hon Kate Doust asked what the relationship was between corruption in the prison service and 
the measures in the bill and the Attorney General said the measures in the bill are not supposed to address 
corruption; is that what the Attorney General is saying? 

Hon Michael Mischin: I did not say that. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Is that what the Attorney General said? 

Hon Michael Mischin: No, that is not what I said, and that is why I will not go through it again and explain it. 
I have already explained it. 

Hon Adele Farina interjected. 

Hon Michael Mischin interjected. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR: Order! Hon Sally Talbot has the call if she wants it. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I would have thought that the minister had enough experience in this chamber to know 
that if one goes into the first 20 minutes of the committee stage of a very complex and controversial bill with the 
attitude he is displaying, we will not get very far very fast. I ask the Attorney General again to explain to me 
why, in his view, the measures in the bill are not aimed at addressing perceived corruption in the prison 
workforce. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Hon Sally Talbot is being quite cute about it because she knows full well that if 
I keep addressing every half-baked proposition she puts up and every misunderstanding that she ventilates, it will 
take up time. She took 10 minutes to get around to that last one. Congratulations on the filibustering, honourable 
member. 

Hon Sally Talbot: I am not sure whether one ventilates misunderstandings. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yet, if I do not respond, we will get repetition of the same questions over and 
again. The loss-of-confidence provisions address a management issue that is targeted at the “integrity, honesty, 
competence, performance or conduct” of prison officers in the same manner as the opposition thought fit, when 
it was in government, to deal with police officers who had not dissimilar responsibilities towards citizens. It is 
not focused on eliminating corruption on its own, nor is the number of cases of corruption or perceived cases of 
corruption alone the informant of the bill. It is wrong to suggest that the bill has nothing to do with corruption, 
but by the same token, it is not focused on eliminating corruption on its own. I have said that on several 
occasions. Hopefully, the honourable member has heard me, but I expect she will try to frame the question in 
another way to derive the same answer. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I genuinely thank the Attorney General for that response because that imparted 
considerably more information than his initial response to the original question framed by Hon Kate Doust. 
I assure the Attorney General that I am not filibustering. After having participated in a lengthy committee 
inquiry, I have some understanding of the bill. I am not filibustering for my own reasons. The Labor opposition 
is not filibustering on this bill. The Attorney General knows very well that the bill will pass this place during this 
period of sitting. We have given that commitment and we stick to those sorts of commitments. No member of 
WA Labor in this place intends to filibuster on this bill; the Attorney General would do well to remember that 
and to take the questions that we ask him at face value. 

Hon Michael Mischin: That has occupied a minute. I am waiting for the question. 

Hon SUE ELLERY: We have an understanding behind the Chair that we will facilitate the passage of this bill 
within the next three scheduled sitting weeks. We have given that undertaking and that is what we will do. That 
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does not mean we abrogate our right to ask questions and to use the committee stage of the consideration of this 
legislation to explore, for example, a range of options and the matters that we asked the Standing Committee on 
Legislation to examine. It can be a really painful three weeks or we can take the attitude that the committee has 
done a good job; it has canvassed the issues. From reading the committee’s report, it is clear that when there are 
conflicting points of view, it states that there are conflicting points of view and outlines the evidence to support 
each side. I do not want to teach the Attorney General how to do his job, but simply because we are pursuing our 
rights in committee on day one of a three-week sitting session—when this government has only four priority 
pieces of legislation and one is not back before us and the other two are not likely to take an enormous amount of 
time—it is not reasonable to accuse us of filibustering in the first hour of being in committee. It will make the 
process more complicated; everyone will get angrier, and it really is unnecessary. It is perfectly reasonable for us 
to pose these questions. We will still honour the commitment that we have given the government, but it really is 
unreasonable to suggest that because we have agreed to facilitate the passage of a bill within a certain 
time frame, that gives us no right to ask questions. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR: Order! Members, I want to return to the question before the Chair. I hope we have 
cleared the air, because as Deputy Chair I want to facilitate a constructive debate. I know that at this time of year 
people can get a bit niggly, particularly on contentious issues. However, hopefully, now we have had a moment 
to collect our thoughts and we can return now to the consideration of the bill and the question that clause 1 be 
agreed to. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: The Attorney General gave me a beautifully neat segue into my next question when he 
responded to my previous one about corruption, because he referred to the fact that the loss-of-confidence 
provisions apply to police officers. Obviously, this is one of the founding principles in the genesis of the bill: the 
assumption that the comparison between police officers and prison officers is one that holds to the extent that it 
is indeed appropriate to extend the loss-of-confidence provisions from police officers to prison officers. This was 
a question to which the Standing Committee on Legislation gave a great deal of thought. Obviously, if the 
answer is that the similarities are not sufficiently robust, one has to ask whether it is fair to extend the same kinds 
of provisions. I guess what the committee set up was a bit of matrix, perhaps, with police officers at one extreme, 
and what we might call regular public servants at the other, with prison officers sitting somewhere in between. 
The committee, as is its wont, is partial to the observation that one occasionally arrives at propositions about 
which reasonable minds may differ, and the committee unanimously formed the view that this was, indeed, one 
such proposition. In other words, this sliding of prison officers along this matrix is something about which 
everyone will have a slightly different opinion. 

I think this is the place to do this, Mr Deputy Chairman (Hon Simon O’Brien). I am sure you will correct me if 
you do not agree, but I am happy to canvass it here and not later in the bill. Recognising that not every member 
in the house will have read the Standing Committee on Legislation’s report on the Custodial Legislation 
(Officers Discipline) Amendment Bill 2013 word for word — 

Hon Sue Ellery: Almost! 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I am sure everyone on this side of the house has! 

I want to draw members’ attention to paragraph 7.11 on page 30 of the report, which is where the minority of the 
committee makes clear its view. The view of the minority was that prison officers were not sufficiently similar to 
police officers to have these loss-of-confidence provisions extended to them. The minister is clearly of a contrary 
mind in that respect, but I ask the minister to outline for the chamber, so that we can shape the rest of this debate 
around his observations, why he is so confident that prison officers and police officers are sufficiently similar. 
In doing so, I ask him to look at paragraph 7.11, and particularly to the oath sworn by prison officers compared 
with the oath sworn by police officers. This is something that was well canvassed in the second reading debate in 
this place and the other place. Recognising that I saw the minister’s wry smile when I said that we ought to be 
open to being persuaded during debate in this place, by the time this matter came to the Committee of the Whole, 
I had actually changed my view about it. During my contribution to the second reading debate I referred to the 
fact that police officers are on duty 24/7; they are, in effect, never off-duty, and therefore they are much more 
like military officers than are regular public servants who clock on and clock off. When I looked more closely at 
the oaths sworn by prison officers, I could see that there is a sense in which one would certainly want to say that 
prison officers, like police officers, are sworn officers. But then—this is what this paragraph points out—so are 
all the officers of the courts and every member of Parliament sworn officers, yet we are not suggesting that 
similar provisions should be applied to those people. 

I specifically want to ask the minister whether he is familiar with the terms of the prison officers’ oath. 
I recognise that the oath in itself does not hold any particular legal standing; the oath is, I suppose, a symbol of 
the fact that prison officers have applying to their role the five considerations that I went through in my previous 
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question—integrity, honesty, competence, performance and conduct—and that we have a right to expect from 
them a very high degree of behaviour that elicits a high degree of confidence from the public. If the minister has 
read paragraph 7.11, he will see that the oaths are, in fact, quite different. A police officer swears to the monarch, 
whereas a prison officer swears allegiance to the state. I will just quote that part of the paragraph. It states — 

… the oath sworn by police officers obliges them to “cause Her Majesty’s peace to be kept and 
preserved, and … prevent … all offences against the same”. This is an extremely broad injunction, 
without any obvious limitation on the scope of that obligation. A prison officer, by contrast, swears 
specifically to serve the State (not the monarch) and “maintain the security of every prison in which 
I serve and the security of the prisoners and the officers employed at the prison” and to “uphold the 
Prisons Act 1981”. 

Nobody is suggesting that a breach of that oath would not lead to a dismissal process, and that is something that 
I will consider in a moment, but I just want to point out to the minister that this essentially boils down to the fact 
that police officers swear to uphold the peace while prison officers swear to uphold the act, and there is such 
a substantial difference between those two oaths that it forms the basis for making the distinction between prison 
officers and police officers that the government does not appear to have drawn. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Once again, Hon Sally Talbot has taken something out of context and built an 
argument on it that occupied eight minutes of time before she got to her point. I refer to section 13 of the 
Prisons Act 1981, “Engagement of prison officers”. Subsection (2) states — 

No person shall be engaged under subsection (1) to be a prison officer until he shall have subscribed in 
the presence of and attested by a justice or an officer not below the rank of superintendent, the 
following oath of engagement — 

I, A.B. engage and promise that — 
… I will well and truly serve the State as a prison officer of Western Australia; and … 

Firstly, that is not an oath simply to the state; nor is it one that limits the obligations of the prison officer to 
maintaining any functions simply within a prison. The concept of a prison officer goes an awful lot further than 
that. Secondly, I do not have the Police Act in front of me, but the fact that they are obliged to cause 
Her Majesty’s peace to be kept and preserved does not mean that they are swearing to Her Majesty at all; only 
“Her Majesty’s peace”, and that is a form of words that has been around for a long, long time and simply means 
peace and order in a community. For a start, there is far too much import being placed on the formalities of the 
oath rather than the substance of the responsibilities that one would ordinarily expect of a police or prison 
officer. In fact, the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission recognised in Western Australian Prison 
Officers’ Union of Workers v Minister for Corrective Services that both police and prison officers are effectively 
paramilitary in their role, but again, that shies away from the actual substance. It is not a question of whether one 
is serving in a prison at a particular time. If the honourable member is suggesting that someone who consorts 
with criminals in their spare time when they are strictly off-duty is someone who would not raise the question of 
whether they are a fit and proper person and whether their integrity, honesty, competence, performance or 
conduct is not compromised, or in whose suitability to be a prison officer the commissioner could legitimately 
want to have his or her confidence restored, I really do not understand what standards she would apply to people 
with that sort of responsibility. I have said this several times, and I am not going to repeat it again, but police 
officers and prison officers have powers over other citizens. They are able to use force and to exert their power 
in necessary circumstances. They are not readily within public scrutiny—even less so in the case of prison 
officers than police officers—and they are able to deprive people of their liberty, and that in itself requires 
people of the utmost integrity, competence and ability.  
Hon SUE ELLERY: I want to take just one second. I am not seeking to repeat the second reading speech, but 
I want to put this on the record because I noted that in the Attorney General’s comments in committee, he made 
the point that the Labor Party supported similar provisions when they were introduced for police and he asked 
why we opposition members were now acting as though we would not support similar measures for prison 
officers. In our second reading contributions to the debate, we made the point that there is a need for rigorous 
measures to ensure that there is no corruption in our prison system. Prison officers operate in a sort of hothouse 
environment. As the Attorney General spelt out just then, they have powers in that difficult environment to 
physically restrain people who are in prison because they have exercised their powers and connections to do 
something that the state has found to be illegal; for example, people who are able to take advantage of 
a situation. However, our position is that the balance in this bill is unfairly weighted against procedural fairness. 
That is the essence of our argument: this bill removes procedural fairness.  
The Attorney General has made the point a couple of times about the similarities between police officers and 
prison officers. However, I draw the Attorney General’s attention—I am sure he has read it—to the comparison 
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made by the committee in its report between the bill and the relevant section of the WA Police Act. On 
page 18 of the report, the committee refers to the reference in the second reading speech and to the fact that the 
provisions in the bill relating to prison officers and youth custodial officers mirror the relevant section in the 
Police Act. However, on that same page the committee noted four differences between the bill and the relevant 
sections of the Police Act. The abrogation of the privilege against self-incrimination is not in the Police Act. In 
the Police Act there is no provision equivalent to clause 7, proposed section 101(3), in the bill to provide for the 
commissioner to conduct any necessary investigation to determine a police officer’s suitability to continue. The 
committee goes further in paragraph 9 of the report to spell out the differences in some further detail. The third 
point the committee makes is that there is no provision in the Police Act equivalent to clause 7, proposed 
section 106(6), which restricts the right of appeal. In the committee’s consideration of that proposed section, the 
report notes that the department in its evidence said, “Yes, you are quite right, there is no equivalent provision; 
that is entirely new.” The committee therefore found that it is not true to say that we are talking about legislation 
that exactly mirrors the provisions that apply to police officers. I therefore invite the Attorney General to 
comment on that and to accept that in fact the committee has found that it is not the case, as we were told in the 
second reading speech, that the provisions exactly mirror those for police. Perhaps we can then move on from 
this notion that we took one position in respect to police and are taking an entirely different position in respect to 
prison officers, and to acknowledge that although we are talking about legislation that has some similarities, it 
also has significant differences as well, as pointed out to us by the committee. 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The loss-of-confidence provision is mirrored in the Police Act or mirrored in the 
amendments. There are variations; I do not resile from that. Aspects such as the abrogation of privilege against 
self-incrimination are specifically stated in the bill, whereas the police rely on regulation 603, which is a pretty 
clumsy way of going about it. There are refinements therefore in the bill that enable certain things to be done that 
are not done under the Police Act. Whether they ought to be included in the Police Act is another matter and 
something for consideration by the Minister for Police. However, the idea of a loss-of-confidence provision is 
reflected in the Police Act and has been adopted from that act as the concept to be used in this legislation. For the 
reasons I have already outlined, which for a start is that it is a management tool for the same reasons that 
a management tool was introduced into the Police Act, it is a means for the CEO or the Commissioner of Police, 
or in this case the Commissioner of Corrective Services, to determine whether they have lost confidence in 
someone when there is a basis for that loss of confidence. I have indicated two scenarios. When no overt offence 
has been committed but someone consorting with criminals outside would raise in any reasonable person in the 
community suspicions about whether that person was suitable to be put in a position of responsibility in a prison 
dealing with criminals, then the commissioner ought to be entitled to say, “What are you doing? What is your 
explanation?” If there is a legitimate explanation, it could work in that officer’s favour. If there is no satisfactory 
explanation, it would allow the commissioner to transfer or otherwise deal with that person as a management 
issue. In that sense, the concepts are mirrored. 
Hon SUE ELLERY: I just want to make the point that the government’s original position is that these 
provisions are mirrored. The committee said that there are four differences; I say that there are three significant 
differences; and the Attorney General describes them as variations. That is fine. He can take that position; it is 
entirely understandable. I believe that the position that takes us to is the need to acknowledge that they are not 
exactly mirrored and we take issue with some of those differences and the fact that they step over the line in 
respect to procedural fairness. It is important to have that noted. We will deal with the specifics of the respective 
amendments and whether the house supports those that go to redressing what I am describing as stepping over 
the line of procedural fairness. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I want to return to the chart on pages 7, 8 and 9 that Hon Lynn MacLaren has made 
reference to in relation to my previous point about the difference between police officers and prison officers, and 
indeed this continues the point made by Hon Sue Ellery. The Attorney General may have his own ideas about 
why there are no loss-of-confidence provisions in every other state in Australia, but if he looks at the existing 
provision in those states, he will see that in every other jurisdiction police officers are treated the same as public 
servants. A very particular point was made by a witness at the inquiry—all these were public hearings of course, 
so the Attorney General would undoubtedly have read the transcripts—who compared the duty of care that 
prison officers have with the duty of care that teachers have for their students. I do not think that anybody 
interpreted that as meaning, and I am certain that the witness did not mean to say, that prison officers are just like 
teachers. Nevertheless, the provisions existing in other states reflect that the public needs to have confidence in 
all its public servants and that prison officers are included—maybe at the top end—and I refer again to that 
spectrum I talked about earlier that prison officers should be closer to the public servant end.  

The Attorney General will see that the specific pieces of legislation in other states that govern the conduct of 
prison officers are the Public Administration Act in Victoria, the Public Service Act in Queensland and the 
Public Sector Act in South Australia et cetera. The inclusion of prison officers in part 5 of the Public Sector 
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Management Act is a reflection of that. That is why I am so mystified about what the government is doing in 
terms of the specific content of this bill. If the government had walked in here with that one measure, I do not 
think this would have been a contentious bill. There would certainly have been things that people on this side of 
the chamber needed to clarify with the government, but essentially that is the part of the bill that would have 
been supported and that would have brought us into line with other jurisdictions. But to go that one step further 
is a step too far. That is why we have placed on the supplementary notice paper some very substantial 
amendments to this bill to address the fact that prison officers can be appropriately dealt with under the PSMA. 
I therefore ask the Attorney General to explain how part 5 of the PSMA procedures will be used in relation to 
prison officers, and why it was felt necessary to put that extra layer of disciplinary measure over prison officers. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I might ask, if that is the case, why is the opposition moving to remove the 
application of part 5 of the PSMA from the operation of the act? 

Hon Sally Talbot: We have no problem with the way it is done, and that is what our amendments go to.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: It is a combination of both measures, both of which are regarded as appropriate 
and necessary for the proper regulation of the behaviour of prison officers—both the application of the 
Public Sector Management Act in particular circumstances, and the loss-of-confidence provisions. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I am sure the Attorney General is familiar with one of the arguments that has been 
canvassed by a number of stakeholders. It is of some interest to me that most stakeholders were prepared to 
concede that there are problems with the existing disciplinary system. The crucial point in the evidence, and it is 
well canvassed by the committee report, is that those problems are not caused by the existing provisions in the 
act. I therefore ask the Attorney General again: has the government given consideration to the fact that one of the 
reasons why the claim is being made that the measures contained in the bill will not address the problems 
outlined by the government is because those problems are actually caused by other things, such as a lack of 
resourcing? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No, we do not think it is caused by a lack of resourcing. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I take the minister to section 106 of the existing act, which is proposed to be deleted by 
this legislation. I want to deal with this here, because there are amendments on the supplementary notice paper 
that go directly to this point. In our view, that is a major flaw in the bill. Section 106(2) outlines, in paragraphs 
(a) to (g), the measures that can be taken in the determination of a charge by the CEO, the CEO being the 
Commissioner of Corrective Services. They include a caution, a reprimand, a fine, suspension from duty without 
pay or other entitlements, reduction to a lower rank, requirement to resign under threat of dismissal, or dismissal. 
On what basis can the minister claim that there are not provisions in the existing act to deal with the point at 
which a prison officer needs to be dismissed because of a fundamental breach of the five parameters that we 
have already discussed in this debate? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I would have thought that the appropriate time to raise this is when we get to those 
clauses. But in the spirit of saving time down the track, if the honourable member reads subsection (2), she will 
see that it commences, “Where a disciplinary offence is determined by the chief executive officer under 
subsection (1)”. Existing section 98 defines “disciplinary offence” in specific terms. It requires a breach of duty 
or responsibility, the laying of a charge under section 106, and so forth. So it is far more restrictive, and it is a 
disciplinary procedure rather than a management tool. One of the comments that was made during the course of 
the committee, and also during the second reading speech and debate on the amendments to the Police Act, 
highlighted that this is a more flexible management tool for officers, rather than having to charge them with an 
offence and prove that offence. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Does the Attorney General also concede that part 5 of the PSMA includes a dismissal 
provision? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes, but it still involves the laying of a charge for a disciplinary offence, as 
I understand it, not simply a loss of confidence because of certain criteria or behaviour. The two scenarios that 
I outlined in my second reading reply do not suggest any behaviour that would form a basis for a disciplinary 
offence within the meaning of the act. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: In that case, is it correct to conclude that under the existing provisions, part 5 of the 
PSMA would be used where there is a disciplinary offence, just as section 105(2)(g) would be used where there 
is a disciplinary offence, whereas the loss-of-confidence provisions could be used where there is no disciplinary 
offence? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Loss of confidence would be the last resort. If there was some other means of 
going about the exercise, it could be done under the provisions of the Public Sector Management Act with regard 
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to a disciplinary offence, and if there was evidence of a criminal offence, that would be the subject of a charge 
and all that would flow from that. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: All the evidence that the committee had and that is presented in the report made it quite 
clear that other provisions exist for dealing with matters of that seriousness. That has always been a given. So 
I ask the minister again: does that mean that the loss-of-confidence provisions could be used in the absence of 
a disciplinary offence? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I take the Attorney General to an earlier comment about use of force. I am going back 
to the comparison between police officers and prison officers. I think the Attorney General made specific 
reference to the fact that prison officers, like police officers, are permitted to use force. Are prison officers 
armed?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: There is a special unit that is armed; it is called the emergency support group. 
Otherwise, the average prison officer, I am informed, would be armed with a baton and restraints.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Is what the Attorney General calls an “average prison officer” armed with a firearm?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: How does that compare with a police officer?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: From what I have observed, most police officers seem to be armed when on duty, 
and outside when they are on duty, because they are dealing with just about any contingency that turns up in 
public. Prison officers are in a confined environment and would generally be able to call on their colleagues. 
I suppose experience suggests that they do not need to carry firearms around; in fact it may put other prison 
officers at risk if they happen to be overcome and a firearm was seized from them. Hence the emergency support 
group would tend to have access to firearms in serious circumstances, but force can be exercised by prison 
officers more than by simply using firearms. They are able to restrain prisoners; they are able to commit an 
assault on them if one calls “assault” putting a hand on their shoulders and guiding them to their cells or 
whatever it happens to be. They are all uses of force to some degree or another.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: What does this emergency support group consist of? If I am a regular prison officer, 
can I become part of the emergency support group if there is an emergency in the section I am working in, or is it 
a specially constituted group?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes, it is a specialist group. I do not want to draw the analogies too closely 
because I do not know whether they would be accurate, but in the same way as the tactical response group may 
be a specialist group of police.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: In actual fact if a person was not a member of the emergency support group, would 
they ever be armed when they are on duty as a prison officer?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: My understanding is no, a person would not be unless they were a member of the 
emergency support group and deployed in a situation that required that; otherwise they would be armed with 
a baton and have restraints to restrain a prisoner.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Are youth custodial officers ever armed?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Not to my understanding, no.  

Hon KATE DOUST: Going back to page 10 of the committee report, there is a discussion around what is 
currently in place in the system that prison officers have to work through with disciplinary procedures. At 
paragraph 5.9 on page 10 of the report, the committee quotes the Minister for Corrective Services — 

The current disciplinary procedures for prison officers consist of a cumbersome and adversarial 
process which involves an appeal to the Prison Officers Appeal Tribunal. This delays the discipline of 
prison officers for even minor infringements.  

Can the Attorney General explain to us how this legislation will make the disciplinary process less cumbersome 
and non-adversarial, given that he is putting in place some quite significant changes for prison officers to deal 
with, which in fact might make it even more adversarial?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The current process is essentially adversarial and very similar to a court process—
it requires the calling of witnesses, cross-examination and the like. The process under part 5 of the Public Sector 
Management Act is largely done on papers. I note that even the evidence from the WA Prison Officers’ Union 
conceded that the current process is cumbersome, awkward and puts officers at a disadvantage because it is so 
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lengthy and can leave them hanging in doubt, whereas the proposed processes ought to be more effective, more 
expeditious and not allow for the sorts of delays that are causing problems at the moment. They will be far more 
effective in dealing with issues of discipline.  

Hon KATE DOUST: I think the proof will be in the pudding. I acknowledge the evidence set out in the report 
provided by the Prison Officers’ Union in which it talks about the current arrangements and that it should be 
more in line with the public sector. It talks about the delays and problems in having a magistrate rather than an 
industrial commissioner, and how the two jurisdictions deal differently with the individual worker or player. 
That is all fairly clear. The Attorney General said it will move away from an adversarial court process, but it will 
shift into a set of arrangements in which the commissioner will be able to apply the loss of confidence to a prison 
officer. They can be stood down for 28 days. They will go through other processes. They might have an 
extended wait before they appear before the Industrial Relations Commission. During earlier debates we talked 
about the waiting period to get hearing dates in the commission and also waiting for decisions. Even though 
those environments are not a full-on formal court, they can be quite adversarial and unfriendly in some ways. 
I am not too sure whether the proposals put forward by the government will achieve what the Minister for 
Corrective Services seeks to do. If the minister was concerned about timeliness in dealing with a matter, of 
making the process less cumbersome and less adversarial—I do not know whether that is making it more 
friendly or relaxed—and given we have already had a discussion about how other states manage the same types 
of issues through their public sector management arrangements and some add additional requirements for their 
prison officers to declare any previous charges or any relationships, or there are codes in place, why did the 
government not look at what was happening in other states and say, “We need to modernise the system to make 
it less cumbersome and more time effective so we can process these allegations or these charges more 
efficiently”? Why did the government not look to go down that path rather than introducing a new set of 
arrangements? In the evidence provided by the WA Police Union president, George Tilbury, quoted in the report 
he says that the new changes proposed in this legislation put a greater onus on prison officers than what is put on 
police officers. The government may perhaps be making things tougher for prison officers than police officers. 
I am curious about why the government did not look to what was happening, and perhaps the Attorney General 
could explain. In terms of making the process more time efficient or less adversarial, why did the government 
not look to models already in existence in other states that deal with this set of workers? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The committee itself recognised that there were significant benefits of 
a standardised disciplinary process, if that is what we are talking about, and the one in the Public Sector 
Management Act was effective. Whether other jurisdictions have a better process or not is a moot point. The 
Western Australian process is already quite comprehensively set out under the PSMA and there are advantages 
insofar as public service discipline is concerned that that be adopted for prison officers as well, rather than 
having a separate process currently in existence under the Prisons Act, which by general feeling is unsatisfactory 
and adversarial. We have picked up on the process in the Public Sector Management Act under part 5 for 
disciplinary offences; however, of course, the loss-of-confidence provisions are not limited to disciplinary 
offences as such, and so there are two different streams of management being used here. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I have a couple more questions about the use of force. Is there an emergency support 
group operating at every prison in Western Australia? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No, they are not stationed at each individual institution. They operate out of 
Hakea Prison. I understand there is a quasi-ESG that operates out of Albany for that region, but it is a centralised 
group dispatched as necessary. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: How many prison officers work in this emergency support group? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I understand there are 72 positions. Not all those positions are filled and I would 
be reluctant, unless it was important information—I am happy to inform the member behind the Chair—to say 
how many positions are vacant at the moment simply as a security issue. It may not be sensitive, but I am just 
being a bit cautious. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: So we are talking about 72 full-time equivalents and the Attorney General says some 
of them are based in Perth and some in Albany. 
Hon Michael Mischin: That is my understanding, yes. 
Hon SALLY TALBOT: How many prison officers are there statewide? 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am told about 1 500. I am sorry. I do not know precisely. 
Hon SALLY TALBOT: So, of about 1 500 prison officers, only about 70 are armed. I think that so severely 
undermines the Attorney General’s case about the use of force. I am slightly surprised that he has not been better 
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informed about this comparison we are making between police and prison officers. I must say that to the best of 
my recollection—perhaps other members of the committee will confirm this—this is slightly different from the 
understanding the committee was given, which I understood was that prison officers may be armed some of the 
time in relation to specific situations. If a prison officer were working in a section where an emergency arose, he 
might be armed. That is slightly different from my understanding of what the Attorney General is saying. 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I do not know what the member’s understanding was, but I think I made it quite 
plain that “armed” did not necessarily mean possessing firearms.  
Hon Sally Talbot interjected. 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: That is a thesis that the member has adopted. The idea of a prison officer being 
armed includes them being armed with a baton. I would have thought if it is used as an offensive weapon, it is 
the use of force. Likewise, manhandling someone into a cell or into a room or from one part of the prison to 
another is still the use of force and one that can be a lawful use of force if done in an appropriate way or that can 
be unlawful if it is unreasonable. In any event, it does not undermine the thesis that prison officers, like police 
officers, can use force lawfully and in the confines of that particular workplace. Indeed, they can also deny 
people their liberty even within the confines of a prison if they are locked into a cell or the subject of complaints 
by the prison officer—that prisoner may be charged with prison offences. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I understand what the Attorney General is saying about the fact that a prison officer 
possessing a baton might be classed as being armed, but here we are talking about the carrying of firearms. 

Hon Michael Mischin: That’s what you were talking about, not me. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Yes, it is what I am talking about, absolutely, because we are making the comparison 
between police officers and prison officers. When I referred just now to the fact that I was slightly surprised that 
the Attorney General was not better informed, my understanding of police officers is that it is an offence perhaps 
in the widest possible term—I will use the term “offence” but I do not know whether that is quite right—for a 
police officer to go on duty without a gun. It is obviously quite different from prison officers, because what 
I understand the Attorney General to be saying is that guns are carried by members of the emergency support 
group who are based only in Perth or Albany. I deduce from that that at prisons in Geraldton, Bunbury, Broome 
or Derby there are prison officers who do not carry guns and will never carry guns while they are on duty. Can 
the Attorney General confirm whether that is correct? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes, but so what in respect of clause 1?  

Hon ADELE FARINA: I just wish to clarify something. Can the commissioner use the no-confidence 
provisions only after undertaking a preliminary investigation to ascertain the facts or would there be 
circumstances in which no investigation would be required and he could simply opt to employ the provisions of 
section 100? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: As a practice, he would investigate, or she would investigate, if the commissioner 
is a female.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: There would be a preliminary investigation and then a decision made on the basis of 
that preliminary investigation as to whether the circumstances of the matter warranted some sort of disciplinary 
action or were such that the commissioner had lost all confidence in the custodial officer and therefore he would 
proceed with the no-confidence procedures. Is that correct? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: In practical terms, the commissioner would be acting on information, perhaps 
intelligence that has been provided. There would be some inquiry into the circumstances that would be presented 
to the commissioner and then the process would go on from there. Proposed section 101 states — 

If the chief executive officer does not have confidence in a prison officer’s suitability to continue as 
a prison officer, the chief executive officer may take the following action (removal action) — 

It goes through the detail. Proposed subsection (3) states — 

The chief executive officer may conduct any necessary investigation to determine a prison officer’s 
suitability to continue as a prison officer.  

Proposed section 102 relates to the giving of the written notice setting out the grounds upon which the chief 
executive officer does not have confidence in that officer’s suitability. As a matter of practicality, yes, there 
would be some source of information and some inquiry to determine whether the chief executive officer could 
make his or her decision accordingly as to whether it is worth proceeding with that course and to issue a notice 
and to set out the reasons why, which can then be answered. 
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Hon ADELE FARINA: I can see a situation in which an incident—it may be a serious misconduct incident—is 
reported to the commissioner. Under the CCC act, the commissioner is required to refer that matter to the CCC. 
The commissioner may be of the view that the nature of the misconduct is serious enough to justify a loss of 
confidence and removal action. If the CCC decided to issue a section 42 notice under its legislation, informing 
the commissioner that it intended to take control of the matter and investigate it itself, how would that impact on 
the removal action, particularly in circumstances in which the commissioner would need to undertake an 
investigation as part of that removal action or may conduct an investigation to determine a prison officer’s 
suitability to continue as a prison officer if the CCC said, “No, you’re not to take any action; we’re going to 
investigate this matter and any investigation by you may actually prejudice our investigation in some way”? I am 
just trying to work out how these two pieces of legislation would fit together in those circumstances, which are 
very real. 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: If I understand what the honourable member is driving at, if there is more than one 
agency or process interested in that particular officer’s conduct, which one takes priority or is balanced? That 
would, I suppose, depend on the circumstances of each particular case. If the CCC has certain powers that it 
chooses to exercise, yes, it could move in and do its investigation. It may mean that it cuts across the CEO’s 
inquiries and any investigation or inquiry that the CEO may be undertaking in respect of that officer may have to 
be put aside pending the CCC doing its stuff. In the same way as if the police perhaps became involved in an 
inquiry, it would be a matter of management between the various authorities. Insofar as what happens to the 
prison officer who is the subject of such an inquiry, there is provision at the moment under section 36(3) of the 
act for the superintendent of a prison to issue such orders to officers and to prisoners as are necessary for the 
good government, good order and security of the prison of which he is superintendent. That might involve what 
is commonly termed “gardening leave”—telling the officer not to go to certain parts of the prison, or wherever it 
happens to be, in order to preserve the integrity of the prison while that officer is under investigation by some 
other agency. It may be that if there are sufficient independent grounds for doing so, the officer can be the 
subject of loss-of-confidence provisions and proceedings anyway, or some other offences may be revealed that 
could be the subject of disciplinary action. The fact that various lines of discipline, criminal investigation or  
loss-of-confidence proceedings may overlap would not be uncommon. The same sort of thing might happen in 
the case of a police officer. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: If I understand the Attorney General correctly, in those circumstances the 
commissioner would have the ability to remove that officer from the duties that gave rise to the situation 
occurring and perhaps do a desk job somewhere or gardening, as the Attorney General suggested, or could stand 
the officer down on full pay. Is that an option?  
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Once again, it depends on the circumstances. Let us take a hypothetical; let us say 
that the Corruption and Crime Commission investigation is into the prison officer’s behaviour towards prisoners. 
It may be that the superintendent, pending the outcome of that inquiry, may direct that the prison officer perform 
duties within certain rostered hours and be confined to, say, officework or something in that category. If they 
continue to work, yes, they would be paid. On the other hand, if a disciplinary offence is involved, that might 
result in suspension action. It would depend on the circumstances. However, it is not uncommon for various 
avenues of inquiry to overlap. Again, it is a question of sensible management between the responsible 
authorities, not unlike what happens with police officers now or indeed public servants who may be investigated 
for misconduct by the CCC. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: Would such action by the commissioner require some level of investigation by the 
commissioner before he or she were able to make that determination? 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Presumably the responsible officer would be acting on some kind of information 
and verification of it being warranted. Let us again take a hypothetical, and I do not want this to be Holy Writ, 
but let us say a prison officer is the subject of a complaint by a prisoner that may involve the CCC and the 
outcome of that is not determined. It may be that the superintendent of that facility would manage that prison 
officer pending more information being revealed about whether there is any substance to the allegation and how 
it ought to be dealt with. There is flexibility in the system to allow for that, rather than immediately taking one 
particular path or another and getting locked into it. 
Hon ADELE FARINA: If the commissioner were to act in the way that the Attorney General has suggested, 
would that give rise to an action under the Industrial Relations Act by the officer against the commissioner on 
the basis that the measure was unfair, harsh or oppressive and they were not given the right to appeal it in any 
way? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: My understanding is: yes, just about any administrative action can be appealed to 
the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission. Whether in circumstances such as that a prison officer 
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would do so, I would have thought it is unlikely unless it became an unreasonably long time and they were 
treated in an unreasonable fashion by their employer. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: If part of a CCC investigation that takes place as the result of a complaint that has been 
received is to monitor what is happening in the prison to see whether there is a more systemic problem within the 
prison, and the CCC wants that officer to remain in place and continue to do the things that they normally do so 
that it can have that officer under surveillance, and the commissioner considered that that posed too great a risk, 
who would win out in that situation? Would the CCC get its way or does the commissioner overrule the CCC? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: For a start, I do not think that this has anything to do with this bill, let alone 
clause 1, but for the purposes of this excursion, again, it depends. I do not know. It would depend on what would 
be consistent with the good order and governance of that facility in the superintendent’s mind and, even if the 
superintendent knew about the investigation, what level of covert activity is being authorised and needs to be 
engaged in to uncover something greater. We would be speaking in hypotheticals here. I could not tell the 
member. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Before I ask my question, I make it clear to the Attorney General that I am not talking 
about guns in this question; I am talking about batons. I am indeed back on the point about the use of force by 
prison officers. Do all prison officers routinely carry batons? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I cannot say categorically, but I would have thought that when they are on duty 
within the confines of the secure areas of the prison where they may be engaged with or come into contact with 
prisoners, yes, as a means of personal protection, if not as a means of coercion should the need arise. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: What does the Attorney General mean by “secure areas of the prison”? Is that some 
particular part of a prison? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am suggesting that if a prison officer is in their office with other prison officers 
or in the crib room during their lunchbreak and they are not in the area in which prisoners are confined and 
moving, there may not be a need for them to carry it around, but I really do not know enough about the practices 
and processes and how they disport themselves every minute of the day, but I would have thought that police 
officers would not tend to carry their firearms when they go to the gym, for example. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I think I made it clear that I am not talking about firearms. 

Hon Michael Mischin: Even batons. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: My question is very precise, Attorney General. When a prison officer gets dressed to 
go on duty as a prison officer, do they wear their baton? Do they carry their baton with them when they are on 
duty in the prison as a prison officer? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I cannot categorically say, but I would have thought so. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Recognising that we are due to adjourn in about three minutes, I ask the 
Attorney General to take some advice on this matter, because my understanding is that not all prison officers are 
even issued with batons; they do not wear them routinely in their contact with prisoners; and, indeed, batons are 
kept secured in a cupboard and are worn only on particular occasions. Again, I say it is extraordinary that the 
Attorney General is not better informed on this matter. The Attorney General walks into this place and tells us 
that one of the reasons the government has introduced these very, very harsh penalties and enhanced provisions 
to be applied to prison officers is because prison officers are similar to police officers in that they may engage in 
the use of force.  

I am also not convinced that the Attorney General is right when he says that there are 1 500 prison officers. My 
information is that there are more like 1 900 prison officers. We will take the two figures; the minister says 
1 500 and I say 1 900, but only about 70 of them are ever armed with guns. The Attorney General is now telling 
us that he thinks that all prison officers carry their batons at all times; my information is that they do not. Batons 
are kept in a secure place and, presumably, officers carry them when needed.  

My final question was going to be about restraints, which the Attorney General probably knows better as 
handcuffs. Again, it is far from clear to me that they are used routinely in prisons. The Attorney General has 
waltzed into this place and presented to us an image of a prison officer bristling with arms or weapons, or 
whatever he said. I think this image comes from some kind of Jack and Jill book that the minister had when he 
was about 10 years old. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR (Hon Liz Behjat): Order, member! I think perhaps you might like to get to the point of 
the question now; you are going around in circles and have been for the last — 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Yes, I am indeed — 



Extract from Hansard 
[COUNCIL — Tuesday, 18 November 2014] 

 p8178b-8200a 
Hon Michael Mischin; Hon Lynn MacLaren; Deputy Chair; Hon Kate Doust; Hon Dr Sally Talbot; Hon Sue 

Ellery; Hon Adele Farina 

 [24] 

The DEPUTY CHAIR: Excuse me! I was speaking. If there is a question that you want to ask, I suggest you do 
that. You have been going around in a very circular fashion. It is clause 1 debate and, I know, wide ranging, but 
I am actually struggling to see what point you are going to come back to on clause 1. I suggest that you might 
want to bring it to a conclusion very quickly, member. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Thank you very much, Madam Deputy Chair. I do appreciate your advice. I was, 
indeed, engaging in a very short filibuster, which was going to last about 90 seconds, to spare the 
Attorney General the embarrassment of not knowing whether prison officers routinely wear batons or carry 
restraints. That is my question to the Attorney General: do they? I hope, Madam Deputy Chair, that you will 
spare the Attorney General embarrassment by allowing him to answer the question tomorrow, by which time he 
might have sought and received the correct advice on those two matters. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR: I do not think the Attorney General is going to be embarrassed by anything. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The honourable member has been embarrassing enough for everyone. I challenge 
Hon Sally Talbot, if she has any integrity at all, to point to the part of Hansard where I said that prison officers 
were “bristling” with weapons. I do not think I ever said that. 

Hon Sally Talbot: I was merely saying you gave us a mental picture. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No, it was another exaggeration and filibuster. Is the honourable member saying 
that prison officers are unable to, and do not in appropriate circumstances, use force? Perhaps she could help me 
out there. 

Hon Sally Talbot: You know what I’m saying, Attorney General. You know very well what I am saying. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I know what the member is doing, which is to drift the debate into stupid areas 
involving firearms and batons. 

Hon Sally Talbot: Keep going, Attorney General. There is a basic rule that when you’re in a hole, you stop 
digging. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The member knows full well what I have said, which is that prison officers are 
able and empowered to use force, but she does not seem to have grasped that. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR: Order, members! Noting the time, I think I am required to report progress. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: If I may just finish, I will not engage in this any further tomorrow. I do not intend 
to explore that silly argument. It has been embarrassing for Hon Sally Talbot.  

Progress reported and leave granted to sit again, on motion by Hon Michael Mischin (Attorney General). 
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